Exploring the Connection between Economic and Workforce Development

Findings from a San Diego and Imperial Valley Regional Convening





Introduction

Dear Colleagues,

At the James Irvine Foundation, our mission is to expand opportunity for the people of California. In 2016, we <u>announced our evolving focus</u> of expanding economic and political opportunity for families and young adults who are working but struggling with poverty. To advance these mutually reinforcing goals, our team has focused on a body of work around career readiness and living-wage work, with the objective of identifying solutions that:

- Improve opportunities for job and entrepreneurship training that lead to quality jobs
- Identify more ways to provide credentials that lead to a family-sustaining career
- Create higher-quality jobs that help employers grow their businesses, including by increasing small business capital for entrepreneurs
- · Identify successful models of matching employers with lower- or middle-skilled workers

A guiding principle in our work is <u>listening and learning</u>—and also sharing back what we are hearing. Last year the Foundation hosted <u>listening sessions across California</u> to hear directly from low-wage workers. And throughout the past year, our team at the Foundation has been making pilot grants, conducting research, and engaging in conversations to ensure that our strategy is informed by the deep knowledge and effective models that already exist in the field. Based on those interactions, we realized there are a number of areas where generative discussions could be beneficial not only to us, but to the entire field, helping to reveal the current landscape and also to identify potential new ideas.

In that spirit, we spent the spring and summer of 2017 speaking to and convening practitioners and field experts across the state. This document shares the findings from one of those convenings, which focused on **the connection between economic development and workforce development**. While the convening was held in San Diego and included participants from both San Diego and the Imperial Valley, our hope is that the lessons learned are applicable across California.

This document contains two parts:

- 1) An executive summary that provides an overview of the process we undertook and the key insights that we gleaned
- 2) A detailed synthesis of what we learned through research, interviews, and discussions at the convening

In designing these convenings, we realized that we could only scratch the surface on these important topics. Rather than serving as a compendium of information on economic and workforce development in San Diego and the Imperial Valley, this document is intended to add to the already-rich work of organizations across both fields. Our goal in sharing this information is to help you learn from the work of others and surface new understanding, connections, and ideas.

Additionally, we invite you to also review the findings from our other regional convenings on our website: www.irvine.org/learning

Thank you for engaging on this important topic.

Warmly,

Elizabeth González

Elest And



Table of Contents

1) EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
1.1) What We Did	
1.2) What We Learned	6
2) DETAILED FINDINGS	ε
2.1) CONTEXT	8
2.1) CONTEXT	8
Connection Between Economic Development and Workforce Development	8
Overview of San Diego's Regional Economy and Workforce	
2.2) UNDERSTANDING REGIONAL TRENDS	
Trend 1: Growth of the gig economy and contract work	10
Trend 2: High proportion of small businesses in San Diego	1
Trend 3: Growing middle-skills gap and need for workforce training	
Trend 4: Interconnectedness of the mega-region economy	
Trend 5: Aspiration for balanced economic growth	13
Trend 6: Desire for economic inclusivity and equity in the region	
Trend 7: Aligned goals but mismatched funding, incentives, and metrics for economic and workforce developmer	t
organizations	14
Trend 8: An aging population	
Trend 9: Increased automation and rapid technological advancements	15
Trend 10: Uncertainty around public workforce funding	15
Trend 11: Decreasing connection between education and work	15
2.3) Envisioning a Better Future	16
2.4) Early Ideas and Next Steps	
3) ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	19



1) Executive Summary

1.1) What We Did

At the Irvine Foundation's first Career Readiness and Living-Wage Work convening of grantees and field leaders in the spring of 2017, participants came together to share their perspectives on the challenges and opportunities across the California workforce and employment landscape. Attendees painted a bold "better future" in which workers attain the right sets of skills that are valued by employers, thereby advancing, thriving, and being in a position to better support their families and ensuring that people from all backgrounds can effectively participate. To get to that better future, attendees identified a set of topics for deeper exploration, one of which was the **connection between economic development and workforce development**.

Given the existing collaboration between the economic development and workforce development fields in **San Diego and the broader Imperial Valley**, we organized a regional convening in August that brought together local leaders to further explore this connection and understand what opportunities exist to move towards a better future for the economy and workforce in the region.

To prepare for this convening, we first reviewed existing research and interviewed participants to understand the landscape of economic development and workforce development efforts in the region and the issues impacting both fields. In advance of our time together, we synthesized and shared with participants what we read, heard, and observed so our group could come together with a common baseline understanding.

To build this common understanding, we first sought to define what we mean by "workforce development" and "economic development" since these terms can include a wide range of activities:

- Workforce development includes a range of efforts by many organizations to "create, sustain, and retain a viable workforce that can support current and future business and industry."¹
- Economic development "creates the conditions for economic growth and improved quality of life by expanding the
 capacity of individuals, firms, and communities to maximize the use of their talents and skills to support innovation,
 lower transaction costs, and responsibly produce and trade valuable goods and services."²

While the two fields may have different stakeholders, funders, and priorities, there are also many connection points between the two. To explore that connection, convening participants identified a number of critical trends that have implications for both the economic and workforce development fields in the region, listed in the table below. For each of these identified critical trends, the group considered where there might be risks or opportunities from both the economic and workforce perspectives. (Note that additional detail for each trend can be found on pages 10-15.)

Key Trends

- Growth of the gig economy and contract work. Corporations are increasingly looking to a web of contractors, suppliers, and freelance workers to deliver critical products and services, allowing these firms to focus on their core capabilities.
- 2. High proportion of small businesses in San Diego. Since small businesses are a major force in San Diego, economic development and workforce development organizations are constantly working to reach out and serve the small business community, whose needs may be different from those of larger firms.
- 3. Growing middle-skills gap and need for workforce training. As San Diego's economy continues to shift, the region's workforce will likely need a range of new skills to address the growing middle-skills gap in critical industries. Employers, workforce organizations, training organizations, and others are working together to document which skills are needed and determine how to best train workers.
- 4. Interconnectedness of the mega-region economy. While San Diego, the Imperial Valley, and Mexico's Tijuana have a number of differences with regards to industry mix, workforce characteristics, community needs, and local service providers, the regions and their respective workforces and economic sectors are also connected in many ways, resulting in opportunities for regional collaboration.



- 5. Aspiration for balanced economic growth. Balanced economic growth—where both high-skill and middle-skill jobs are growing in unison—helps to ensure that a region's economy is diverse, healthy, and allows for a wide range of workers to participate.
- 6. Desire for economic inclusivity and equity in the region. There is a desire to help people who are currently struggling with poverty move back into the economic fold as productive workers with opportunities to move up the income ladder and providers for their families.
- 7. Aligned goals but mismatched funding, incentives, and metrics for economic and workforce development organizations. While organizations across workforce and economic development are aligned in their desire and efforts to better train San Diego workers and connect them to businesses across the region, those organizations are supported by a range of funding streams, each carrying different requirements, expectations, and accountability metrics.
- **8. An aging population.** There is a growing senior community in San Diego—some of whom are retiring later and looking for flexible employment opportunities, raising questions of how to best engage and support this growing population.
- 9. Increased automation and rapid technological advancements. With the rise of automation, artificial intelligence, and the speed of technological advancements, millions of jobs could be at risk over the coming decades. At the same time, entirely new categories of jobs are emerging that provide tremendous opportunity and require dramatically different skills.
- 10. Uncertainty around public workforce funding. Even though the federal government has shown interest in some workforce development strategies like apprenticeships, federal budget proposals have indicated significant cuts to public workforce funding and investment, which may force local workforce development organizations to reprioritize their work and service models.
- 11. Decreasing connection between education and work. Due to rapid technological advancements and a focus on college preparation, the education system—from K-12 to community colleges—is trying to keep up by experimenting with new models that equip students with the skills needed to succeed in the changing economy.

With these trends in mind, convening participants then envisioned what the future could look like—both the "expected future" that continues along the current trajectory and a "better future" in which we're able to take advantage of opportunities and address critical risks:

- Expected Future: There was a sense that San Diego would be defined by fragmentation and stagnation if nothing changed. Innovation would continue in some pockets of the economy, but the gains would become even more concentrated and the region would not be able to achieve broad-based growth. Divisions would grow between the "haves"—those with money, skills, influence, and connections—and the "have nots". Workforce development organizations would be able to make some progress, but ultimately wouldn't be able to bridge these gaps on a societal level.
- Better Future: The group was hopeful that organizations and communities could collaborate to create a better future in which all parts of the local labor force would be able to participate in the growth of the economy—and the benefits of that growth would accrue to all members of the community. Resources across the region would be aligned, forming a network of workforce development organizations, economic development organizations, employers, education providers, and governments (city, county, and regional). The region would for strive for balanced economic growth, with companies engaging in inclusive practices because it's not only good for society, but also good for business.

The group then brainstormed early ideas and next steps for moving towards this better future. Some of these ideas were new experiments, such as repurposing neighborhood gathering places (e.g., libraries, recreation centers) into workforce development hubs. Participants also explored how to add to existing efforts, such as building on programs that provide support to military families in order to better serve the broader community. For additional detail on these ideas, as well as a detailed recap of the expected and better future exercise, refer to pages 16-18.



1.2) What We Learned

Through research, interviews, and discussions at the convening, four broad areas of opportunity emerged that could help support a better future for the regional economy and workforce:

1

Opportunity for increased collaboration within San Diego and across the mega-region

When looking across wide and interconnected regions, it is important to consider connection points at multiple levels—in this case, intra-county, inter-county, and even trans-nationally. With this in mind, participants saw different opportunities to promote more collaboration and communication within San Diego itself and across the mega-region.

Increased collaboration and communication among organizations in San Diego could benefit the community. San Diego is a large region serving a diverse mix of communities. Recognizing that the City of San Diego, North County, East County, and South County are unique places with varied needs, participants voiced an opportunity for these sub-regions to collaborate more closely towards aligned economic and workforce development objectives. Some suggested it would be helpful to conduct an asset mapping exercise to understand existing organizations and resources—including smaller organizations that may be working with particular neighborhoods or sub-populations—and create regional umbrellas to align resources and address issues of shared concern.

Additionally, there is an opportunity for more collaboration across the mega-region. On a larger scale, coordination and collaboration across the San Diego, Imperial Valley, and Tijuana regions was also highlighted as crucial. Given the interconnectedness of the economies and workforces of the mega-region, some saw an opportunity to jointly discuss issues related to education, workforces, and trade and implement solutions together.

2

Opportunity to leverage existing assets and infrastructure

While it can be tempting to immediately think of brand new solutions, oftentimes there are spaces, services, and programs that can be leveraged to achieve similar outcomes. Where possible, it may be valuable to build from these efforts rather than designing short-lived, "flash in the pan" ideas. With this in mind, participants saw an opportunity to rethink how to leverage local assets and existing programs.

Existing community assets could be leveraged or repurposed to create hubs for workforce development. Many neighborhoods already have vibrant gathering places that provide various services for the community. There is an opportunity to leverage these spaces—such as libraries, recreation centers, or even malls—to serve as "pop up" training locations for important workforce development programs. This could help training organizations reach new workers and also reduce scheduling challenges and commute times for workers, helping to create more effective training opportunities.

Progress could be accelerated by building on existing neighborhood or military family programs. There was a sense that organizations could build on the programs that are already operating in certain neighborhoods. For instance, given the significant military presence in San Diego, many programs exist that provide support to military families. Training organizations may be able to "add on" services to these, and other, programs that are already effectively serving families in the region.

3

Opportunity to promote equity and inclusion in the region

The themes of equity and inclusion are relevant in many types of economic development and workforce development efforts—and how to integrate these concepts into solutions can vary. It is important to collectively understand how these concepts manifest and then to creatively imagine ways to respond.



To achieve balanced economic growth, it is important to spur the innovation economy while also bolstering middle-skill and lower-skill sectors. A healthy economy should promote growth in not only high-skill sectors (e.g., biotech), but also middle-skill sectors that are tied to population growth (e.g., healthcare), allowing for wide range of workers to participate and benefit. Given the strong growth of the innovation economy in San Diego and ensuing cost of living increases, some participants questioned whether San Diego would eventually look more like San Francisco or New York City, with robust economies but high inequality, or more like Austin and Denver, with more balanced growth. Many saw an opportunity for San Diego to be an innovation leader, while also intentionally strengthening other important sectors like healthcare and retail.

Economic inclusivity and income mobility for workers is an important part of a strong, balanced economy. There was a sense that if nothing changes, income inequality will continue to grow in the region and those hit hardest would likely be in already underserved communities. Fostering a more inclusive workforce would require a mindset shift that recognizes the untapped economic potential in underserved communities and works to better train and connect them to a variety of opportunities. To start early, schools can help expose students of all communities and backgrounds to all different types of work through career exploratory programs, job shadowing, and conversations with counselors. To spur systemic change, economic development corporations and universities can together start conversations with CEOs about embracing inclusivity in their workforce and making it part of the fabric of their corporate culture, particularly as consumers are increasingly considering a company's social impact when making purchasing decisions. Additionally, organizations can further influence the public mindset by visibly recognizing corporations with strong inclusive workforce practices.

Equity also includes health and quality of life. Equity goes beyond economic and educational opportunities; participants also talked about how equity is important with regards to health and well-being—be it physical or mental. Increasingly, health and wealth are tied, as economic stability is a critical determinant of quality of life. In the same vein, employers are also increasingly aware of their employees' well-being, especially as workers consider factors like work-life balance, medical insurance, and childcare benefits when making employment decisions. In a better future, communities would further recognize the importance of nutrition and affordable healthcare for working families, in addition to public transportation, affordable housing, and an infrastructure to support growth.



Opportunity to better align funding, metrics, and incentives

Even when organizations recognize the value in collaborating, uncertain funding streams, different incentives, organizational constraints, and a lack of data may hamper efforts. With increased attention to some of these stubborn "root causes," organizations can more effectively collaborate and align their efforts toward creating meaningful community outcomes. In San Diego, participants articulated the different ways this plays out and expressed interest in exploring ways to mitigate these challenges.

Organizations are concerned about the future of public workforce funding and see an opportunity to pursue alternative sources and models. Convening participants voiced concern over the uncertainty of federal workforce funding, stemming from the proposed federal budget cuts. If these budget cuts are executed, local and regional workforce development organizations may have to radically rethink their work and service models since they are often funded by state and federal workforce funding. Alternatively, workforce organizations may seek other funding sources, building a strong business case to incentivize the private sector, philanthropy, and state and local governments to provide the necessary local investment. They may also consider new ways to pool funding, or create a larger fund to pursue cross-organizational priorities.

Although organizations have different accountability metrics, there is an opportunity to share data. Accountability can look vastly different across organizations. Each organization serves different stakeholders and collects different accountability metrics, making collaboration and data-sharing complex. A number of participants identified data-sharing as something that would be helpful, but operationally difficult. In an ideal world, governments, schools, employers, and workforce development organizations might work together to collect longitudinal data on workers to track what programs or resources had significant impacts on their careers. In the San Diego and Imperial Valley regions, workforce and economic development organizations have already established a foundation of data-sharing by collaborating on labor market analyses and other data-intensive reports.³



2) Detailed Findings

2.1) Context

The San Diego and Imperial Valley regions are dynamic. This mega-region is home to businesses across a diverse set of industries that have a wide range of talent needs. Workers in the region are also diverse and are looking for the skills and opportunities to contribute to these employers while earning a family-sustaining income. Before discussing the connection between economic and workforce development, it is important to talk about what we mean for each.

Defining Terms

The terms "economic development" and "workforce development" are always shifting, and we heard variations in what experts consider the two fields to encompass. The definitions below are intended to give our group a common language with which to discuss the nuances of regional trends, as well as bright spots and gaps in existing efforts.

- Workforce Development: As the Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis notes, "The term [workforce development] has come to describe a relatively wide range of activities, policies, and programs employed by geographies to create, sustain, and retain a viable workforce that can support current and future business and industry." This broad-based definition includes the full range of efforts of many organizations to ensure a strong workforce in a region. However, organizations oftentimes view workforce development through different lenses:
 - Some focus on the *individual worker* and are committed to helping individuals attain the skills they need to have a prosperous and sustainable economic future.
 - o Some—mainly employers—view workforce development from their own *organizational* lens and focus on the skills their business and industry needs to remain competitive.
 - Some focus on the region or community and work to understand the strengths and gaps of a region more broadly.⁵
- **Economic Development:** According to the U.S. Economic Development Agency, "economic development creates the conditions for economic growth and improved quality of life by expanding the capacity of individuals, firms, and communities to maximize the use of their talents and skills to support innovation, lower transaction costs, and responsibly produce and trade valuable goods and services." Key activities for organizations working in economic development tend to include growing existing businesses, recruiting new businesses, encouraging entrepreneurship, and connecting firms to skilled labor. 7,8

Some are also focusing on "inclusive" economic development and growth. The Brookings Institution notes that the goal for this work is to "put a regional economy on a trajectory of higher growth (growth) that increases the productivity of firms and workers (prosperity) and raises standards of living for all (inclusion), thus achieving deep prosperity—growth that is robust, shared, and enduring."

Connection Between Economic Development and Workforce Development

Regardless of how one defines economic and workforce development, it is clear that the two fields are linked and critical for a region's economic success. In the San Diego region, there is already significant collaboration between the two fields, and leaders across both affirm that a skilled workforce is a top priority. For example:

- The San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation identifies "Workforce Talent Attraction and Retention" as one of its current initiatives and has published research on San Diego's skilled talent pool. 10,111
- The San Diego Workforce Partnership, Imperial County Workforce Development Board, and San Diego/Imperial Counties Community Colleges Association (SDICCCA) developed the "Southern Border Regional Workforce Development Plan PY 2017-2020" (as required by the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act) to describe the talent needs that employers are looking for and identify a set of priority sectors that will drive economic growth and employment in the mega-region.¹²



Overview of San Diego's Regional Economy and Workforce

Economic Landscape

San Diego has one of the most diversified economies in the U.S., and there are multiple ways to describe that diversity. 13 The San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation identifies four clusters that drive the regional economy:

- Defense: San Diego currently has the largest concentration of federal military workers in the country, and its
 military sector accounts for approximately one in every 10 jobs in the region, including Marines, shipbuilders, and
 aerospace engineers. ¹⁴ The defense cluster also spurs significant economic activity, as defense-related spending
 is responsible for one-fifth of San Diego's gross regional product (GRP). ¹⁵ The Imperial Valley also participates in
 the defense cluster through its naval air facility and growing aerospace testing activity. ¹⁶
- Innovation: San Diego is a major high-tech hub and the most patent-intense region in the nation, anchored by biotech, communications, cleantech, and software.^{17,18} The innovation economy makes up nearly one-fourth of San Diego's GRP and has a significant multiplier effect—every job in the technology industry, specifically, creates an additional 2.7 jobs in other sectors.¹⁹ According to the National University System Institute for Policy Research, the innovation economy only employs 11 percent of the county's workers, while accounting for 23 percent of the county's payroll, which indicates wages may be disproportionately concentrated in this high-paying cluster.²⁰
- **Tourism:** San Diego is the country's top domestic travel destination, attracting more than 34 million leisure and business travelers every year. ^{21,22} The annual influx of visitors generates over \$700 million in state and local taxes, and some visitors even stay to start businesses or raise families. ²³ The tourism cluster—including hotels, food service, and attractions—employs nearly 12 percent of San Diego's workforce. ²⁴
- Other Local Business: San Diego's robust local economy includes a wide variety of other industries: retail, healthcare, manufacturing, and professional services, among others. While each of these sectors has its own important characteristics, this large cluster makes up about half of San Diego's GRP and 65.4 percent of the region's employment.^{25,26} In Imperial County, agriculture is a critical local sector and a top employer.²⁷

Another way to describe San Diego's regional economy is in terms of sectors. In partnership with other organizations, the San Diego Workforce Partnership has identified five priority sectors:

- Advanced Manufacturing: The advanced manufacturing sector spans a number of fields, from defense to biotech. The sector is relatively high-paying, accounting for about 15 percent of San Diego's workforce, but 22 percent of the county's payroll.²⁸ Eighty-five percent of employers noted it was challenging to find qualified job candidates, especially for jobs in the production, drafting and technicians, engineering, computer, and software occupations.²⁹
- Clean Energy: This sector focuses on environmentally friendly solutions, including renewable energy, alternative transportation, and green building. While the clean energy sector is relatively small, it is growing rapidly—by as much as 11.5 percent in 2015 alone.³⁰ The sector is also heavily fragmented, with half of these businesses in San Diego County employing fewer than five employees.³¹ In addition, renewable energy and cleantech are key for natural resource-rich Imperial Valley, which is prime for geothermal, biofuel, wind, and solar energy production.³²
- Healthcare: Healthcare is key to San Diego County's aging urban population, as one-fifth of workers are at least 55 years old and approaching retirement.³³ The sector is a large employer in the region, accounting for over 12 percent of jobs and providing many middle-skill job opportunities for the workforce.³⁴ Fifty-seven percent of healthcare employers reported difficulty finding qualified job candidates.³⁵
- Information and Communication Technologies: This sector consists of telecommunications, video gaming, cybersecurity, data analytics, and bioinformatics, and includes Qualcomm, one of San Diego's two Fortune 500 companies.³⁶ This sector employs over 200,000 workers and is forecasted to grow 13.7 percent in the span of five years.³⁷
- **Life Sciences:** San Diego is recognized as one of the country's top life sciences hubs, especially for biotech, pharmaceuticals, and medical devices.³⁸ Even though life sciences is a differentiating sector for San Diego, it only employs approximately 3 percent of workers in San Diego County—though that number is growing rapidly, with 9



percent growth in 2015 alone.³⁹ There may also be some synergies with Imperial Valley, where agriculture outputs can be used in certain areas like biofuel development.⁴⁰

Workforce Landscape

In terms of the region's workforce, it is important to note some basic facts related to unemployment, education and experience, and income:

- **Unemployment:** San Diego County's unemployment rates have been trending downwards over the past few years, from 6.4 percent in June 2014 to 4.3 percent in June 2017. This low unemployment rate has led to upward pressure on wages and challenges for companies in finding skilled employees. However, unemployment in Imperial County remains at 20.8 percent, returning to mid-2014 levels after a few years of fluctuation.
- Education and Experience: The percentage of well-educated workers in the San Diego regional economy is considerable and growing. Thirty-seven percent of San Diegans 25 years or older hold a bachelor's degree or higher, compared to the national average of 33 percent and Imperial County's 14.1 percent. 46,47,48 Furthermore, 60 percent of people who migrate to San Diego have graduated college, demonstrating that the region attracts well-educated workers. 49 In addition to education, San Diego also has a relatively experienced, older workforce. Compared to peer metropolitan areas, experienced workers over the age of 45 comprised a larger share of San Diego's workforce, indicating the impending "silver tsunami" of retirements in the near future may have proportionally greater implications on the regional economy. 50
- Income: San Diego has higher and more evenly distributed incomes compared to California and the country as a whole. San Diego County's 2015 median household income was \$67,320, which is considerably higher than the national average and slightly higher than the statewide average. San Diego County has a 13.8 percent poverty rate, which is lower than the U.S. and California rates. The county's Gini coefficient—a measure of income inequality—showed less income inequality than the U.S. as a whole, the state of California, and other major cities like San Francisco and Los Angeles. 51,52,53 Meanwhile, Imperial County has a median household income of \$41,079 with a significantly higher poverty rate of 24.3 percent. 54,55

2.2) Understanding Regional Trends

The perspectives shared by convening participants provided a better understanding of some of the region's critical trends, as outlined below, which have implications for both the economic and workforce development fields in the region:

- 1. Growth of the gig economy and contract work
- 2. High proportion of small businesses in San Diego
- 3. Growing middle-skills gap and need for workforce training
- 4. Interconnectedness of the mega-region economy
- 5. Aspiration for balanced economic growth
- 6. Desire for **economic inclusivity** and **equity** in the region
- Aligned goals, but mismatched funding, incentives, and metrics for economic and workforce development organizations
- 8. An **aging population**
- 9. Increased automation and rapid technological advancements
- 10. Uncertainty around public workforce funding
- 11. Decreasing connection between education and work

In the following sections, we have provided additional detail related to each of these trends.

Trend 1: Growth of the gig economy and contract work

There is a growing trend among large corporations to eschew vertical integration and instead look to a web of contractors, suppliers, and freelance workers to deliver critical products and services, enabling these corporations to focus on their core capabilities. This shift can

In your words:

"We're seeing the end of the vertically integrated corporation."



produce a number of positive trends that are helpful for some workers. For instance, the gig economy can provide more flexible work opportunities for workers who need more control over their schedules and may be particularly attractive to an older generation that remains in the workforce but is looking for more flexibility.

However, the growth in the gig economy also leads to uncertainty around what types of enterprises that will exist in the future, how they will be organized, what types of workers and skills will be needed, and what benefits and job security will look like. Without careful thought and planning, a number of factors could lead to a more stratified workforce, exacerbating inequality between the "haves" and "have-nots." These factors include connections to job opportunities, access to mentors and capital, and even access to reliable internet—all of which are critical in a number of these jobs. To proactively address these concerns, training organizations have an opportunity to incorporate training for tools that would help workers be successful in this shifting economy; participants highlighted soft skill training and entrepreneurship training (e.g., how to grow a business, retain customers, manage finances) as two important places to start.

Additionally, the growth of the gig economy and contract work is creating clusters of small businesses that deliver their specialized services in silos. Several interviewees posited that the region's economy could benefit from the development of mechanisms that enable these different clusters of small businesses to collaborate – for instance, an IT support firm partnering with independent computer systems analysts to bid on a complex technology contract. Networks of small support services that specialize in supporting a host of small companies with outsourced services, such as employee benefits management and multimedia design, are also emerging.

Trend 2: High proportion of small businesses in San Diego

In San Diego County, small businesses are a major force. While small businesses (those with fewer than 500 employees) employ approximately half of all private-sector workers in California, they employ nearly 86 percent of workers in San Diego County. 56,57 In addition, very small businesses (those with fewer than 50 employees) comprise 95 percent of businesses in San Diego County and account for a large part of San Diego's economic growth. 58 Based on the high concentration of small businesses—especially in high-growth industries—among other factors, Forbes ranked San Diego the best place in the U.S. to start a business. 59 And while they are decentralized, small business span a range of sectors thereby forming a diverse and resilient economic base.

Although small businesses make up most of the San Diego regional economy, some interviewees observed that small businesses tend to pay lower wages than large firms in most industries. Across the state of California, employees of small businesses earn \$45,842 on average, while employees of large firms (those with more than 500 employees) earn approximately 36 percent more at \$62,246. 60 However, it is not clear whether variation exists across the same role at large and small firms or whether other factors drive this difference.

From a workforce development perspective, several participants noted that small employers can be harder to serve than large employers. Large companies have greater capacity to hire and train large numbers of workers, requiring less outreach, coordination, and aggregation on the service provider's part. Training programs can be more easily developed and customized to fit a single large employer's needs, rather than trying to address the distinct needs of many small businesses. To bridge the gap, there could be new ways to aggregate small businesses together and support them in new ways. As a starting point, there is an opportunity to further enlist small businesses in developing solutions, partly by helping to explain the value of workforce development efforts in a data-driven way and re-thinking incentives to help small businesses—especially those in low- and moderate- income communities—more effectively hire interns and full-time positions.

"Gig economy workers and freelancers may not have job security or medical insurance, which could change the landscape of the healthcare sector."

"There are many clusters of small businesses providing complementary services, but operating in isolation."

"More of San Diego's job growth is from newly formed companies than large businesses."

"Because small businesses are so fragmented, serving them is harder."

"There should be trainings not only for getting a job, but also for becoming an entrepreneur. That would connect economic and workforce development."

"We need to inform small businesses of their role and responsibility in developing the talent pipeline."



Trend 3: Growing middle-skills gap and need for workforce training

As San Diego's economy continues to shift, the region's workforce will need to be equipped with a range of new skills to address the growing skills gap. To accomplish this goal, interviewees explored how employers, workforce organizations, training organizations, and others could best work together to uncover which skills are needed and how to best equip workers with those skills.

Understanding which skills are needed

In San Diego, there is a shortage of middle-skill workers in a range of occupations, including administrative support, healthcare practitioners and technicians, sales, maintenance, construction, production, and transportation; this skills gap has also hindered the growth of several key priority sectors like healthcare, advanced manufacturing, and information and communications technology. ⁶¹ In addition to middle skills, interviewees also identified "soft skills" or "essential skills" like teamwork and critical thinking as high priority for employers.

A number of participants talked about the importance of understanding the needs of employers and involving them in the design of workforce and training solutions for both new and incumbent workers. To do so, collaborations between educational institutions, nonprofits, and employers can help bring the right groups together to co-create the effective models and approaches. These organizations can also help bridge the "awareness gap" by exposing students to different kinds of work, especially middle-skill jobs, through career exploratory programs and youth internship opportunities starting as early as middle school.

How to best equip workers with critical skills

A number of organizations—including community colleges, four-year colleges, and other training providers—play critical roles in designing and delivering education that prepares workers in the region. Some interviewees discussed how these organizations could most effectively deliver quality training in the future, as new skills are needed in the workforce. In some cases, this training can be grounded in particular sectors of the economy. For example, the healthcare sector has historically included a wide range of middle-skill professions and is seen as a sector that fosters learning and growth in workers. As the industry shifts more toward technology solutions (e.g., electronic medical records), there will be a need for workers with new skills.

On a wider scale, training providers can also focus on transferable skills or competencies that span across sectors (e.g., analytics trainings for use in advanced manufacturing, healthcare, and high tech), instead of skillsets specific to a job or career. These skill "bundles" and other important competencies could eventually be recognized through micro-level certifications that are validated by employers in an effort to better connect students' education with the skills needed in the workplace.

Trend 4: Interconnectedness of the mega-region economy

While San Diego and the Imperial Valley have a number of differences in terms of industry mix, workforce characteristics, community needs, and local service providers, the regions are also connected in various ways. Interviewees were open to exploring opportunities for regional collaboration in general, as well as in specific fields such as:

- Aerospace: The Imperial Valley and San Diego mega-region is home to a strong aerospace presence with a naval air facility in El Centro and cutting-edge manufacturers. And with 360 days of clear flying weather every year, close proximity to San Diego, and open land, the Imperial Valley is an ideal testing ground for innovations in rockets, jets, unmanned aerial vehicles, and other experimental technologies.⁶²
- Biotech: San Diego is a leading biotech hub with \$3.8 billion in revenue.⁶³ The
 Imperial Valley's considerable agricultural activity can serve as ideal partner for this
 industry, producing important components such as manure, algae, sugarcane, and

"Delivering workforce training is becoming a more collaborative effort."

"Employers need workers who are prepared with 'essential' skills."

"Employers are the ones who do the hiring. They are key in developing the talent pipeline."

"We need to balance the short, intensive training people need to get back to work with the longer-term skills and certifications they'll need."

"The economy is changing too fast for job-specific trainings to remain viable."

"We are stronger as a mega-region than separately, and we should acknowledge that there are also massive differences. But, those differences can complement each other."



- other crops. ⁶⁴ The two regions are exploring algal research and development, with further collaboration on biofuel development also a possibility.
- Clean energy: The Imperial Valley is home to many natural resources, such as nearly-endless sun and wind, affordable freshwater resources, one of the largest sources of geothermal energy in the Salton Sea area, and considerable agricultural production. ^{65,66} As both San Diego and Imperial Valley look to expand clean energy and "blue-tech" (i.e., water technologies), regional partnerships can potentially accelerate progress for both regions.

And beyond the connection between San Diego and the Imperial Valley, the connection to the Tijuana region of Mexico is also critically important. Many people from Tijuana, San Diego, and the Imperial Valley travel across the border every day. Their economies—such as San Diego's life sciences sector and Tijuana's medical device manufacturing sector—are also deeply intertwined.⁶⁷

In order to optimize workforces and industry across regions and nations, better alignment could be useful on many fronts—politically, fiscally, socially, culturally, and more. Longer term, there could be an interesting opportunity to consider a cross-national workforce development agenda to train and connect workers and industries across the mega-region.

Trend 5: Aspiration for balanced economic growth

Balanced economic growth depends on strong growth in both high-skill sectors (e.g., biotech) and middle-skill sectors that are tied to population growth (e.g., healthcare). Planning for and achieving balanced growth ensures that a region's economy is diverse, healthy, and allows for a wide range of workers to participate. For example, this type of economic development is credited with helping Austin, TX, become one of only four metro areas in the country that achieved inclusive economic growth from 2010-2015.⁶⁸

In the San Diego region, a number of interviewees described how the "innovation economy" has benefited the region by attracting talent and investment, producing breakthrough technology, and creating high-paying jobs. However, some interviewees questioned what this growth in high-skill sectors meant for the 63 percent of San Diegans without bachelor's degrees, raising concerns of growing economic inequality in the region, especially as the cost of living and housing prices increase. ⁶⁹ These questions highlight the importance of exploring how economic and workforce development organizations can prioritize and support a range of sectors to drive broad-based growth. Looking forward, some questioned whether San Diego would eventually look more like San Francisco or New York City, with robust economies but high inequality, or more like Austin and Denver, with more balanced growth.

To achieve balanced growth, some organizations are actively balancing their efforts to continue to spur the prominent innovation economy while also bolstering middle-skill industries like healthcare and lower-skill ones like retail. To do so, there may be an opportunity to utilize big data to better understand and share trends in middle-skill jobs, such as which areas hiring in real time and capturing the skills needed to be successful across thousands of middle-skill jobs. In addition to focusing on skills, participants noted that supporting employers who were creating middle-skills jobs was also important. Whether through targeted investment funds, targeted tax credits, or other means; supporting these businesses further can spur balanced growth. Overall, the regional economy can grow to be even more resilient by fostering growth in a range of sectors.

Trend 6: Desire for economic inclusivity and equity in the region

There are several ways to consider inclusivity and equity in the region's workforce and economic development.

"If you're talking to someone looking into renewable energy, the Imperial Valley is where you would want to be, but the workforce is in San Diego."

"Given the interchange of our workforces, there could be more connectivity between our transportation systems, education, business, and cultures."

"We need to pay attention to all sectors that contribute to the economy."

"The innovation economy is significant for San Diego, but we should recognize that not everyone benefits from it."

"The first step is helping young people and parents understand what our economy looks like and where there is opportunity."

"We focus a lot on training middle-skill workers, but we also have to support the sectors and businesses that employ them."



First, a number of organizations described the importance of bringing people who are currently on the margins back into the economic fold as productive workers and providers for their families. For instance, nearly one-tenth of 16- to 24-year-old residents of San Diego County are "opportunity youth" who are disconnected from school and work, and only 35.5 percent of them are looking for work or working—compared to 60.2 percent of all 16- to 24-year-olds in San Diego. ⁷⁰ Other groups with barriers to employment (e.g., ex-offenders) may also be looking for onramps into the regional economy.

However, serving these populations often requires additional efforts or partnerships with other service providers, especially for those with significant barriers to employment. And when connecting these workers to employers, developing a business case is critical. San Diego's businesses may be open to hiring from these groups—one survey of small businesses showed that 77 percent were open to hiring youth and 72 percent were open to hiring ex-offenders⁷¹—but we heard that businesses may not *prioritize* these hires without a compelling business case beyond "corporate social responsibility." And beyond a business case, it is also important to consider the role of social capital (e.g., coaching, mentoring, connection to job opportunities) in connecting underrepresented populations to quality jobs, as well as logistical hurdles (e.g., transportation).

To accelerate progress, some participants shared that anchor institutions, such as hospitals and universities, could have an important role to play in leading the charge on diversity and inclusion and could serve as a model for private sector employers. When involving the private sector, it is also critical to think of messaging and framing, as concepts like being "pro-family" may be more universally supported by corporate leadership.

On a broader scale, some are thinking about economic mobility and ensuring that a wide range of community members can move up the ladder. A growing body of research on economic mobility shows that local decisions can affect a child's ability to gain an education and find gainful employment as an adult. Fortunately, San Diego ranks sixth in upward mobility out of the 50 largest metropolitan areas in the U.S., and community leaders remain committed to find ways to continue to help those from a range of different backgrounds advance.⁷²

Trend 7: Aligned goals but mismatched funding, incentives, and metrics for economic and workforce development organizations

Overall, organizations across workforce and economic development are aligned in their desire and efforts to better train San Diego workers and connect them to businesses across the region. At the same time, organizations in economic and workforce development are supported by a range of funding streams, each carrying its own requirements, expectations, and accountability metrics.

While economic development funding primarily originates from the private sector, workforce development funding is more dependent on the federal budget and guidelines, and training organizations like community colleges and nonprofit organizations cover costs through a range of state, local, philanthropic, and fee-based funding streams. Thus, when attempting to collaborate, organizations may agree on a solution, but struggle to find capacity and alignment to take it on. To address this challenge, there could be greater opportunities to pool funding across multiple organizations to address important outcomes and divvy up the work according to organizational strengths and constraints. Doing so could increase the overall "pie" for organizations in the region, but requires higher levels of coordination.

In addition to funding, accountability can look vastly different across organizations. Organizations are required to serve different stakeholders and collect different metrics, making collaboration and data-sharing even more complex. A number of interviewees identified data-sharing as something that would be helpful, but operationally difficult.

"The entire economy benefits when everybody plays a role in it."

"Underrepresented populations are harder to reach."

"Even if low-income folks find jobs, they may not be able to get to work due to the lack of accessibility."

"Many of us agree that local leaders can affect income mobility."

"We have incredibly strong relationships across the two fields and a real desire to improve the region."

"We sometimes chase funding instead of focusing on outcomes."

"Our organizational success is often measured differently."



Trend 8: An aging population

The effects of an aging population manifest in many ways:

- In many industries, a large number of baby boomers are expected to retire in the coming years, leaving many middle-skill jobs and management positions open for employers to fill. Helping employers train the right workforce that will be ready to step into these open roles will be critical.
- Many baby boomers are also deciding to retire later, but are seeking more flexible hours and working conditions. Participating in the gig economy can provide great flexibility, but may require older workers to gain new skills (e.g., mobile technology).
- An aging population may shift the economic demand for certain products and services, such as an increased need for healthcare. From an economic development perspective, it is important to help businesses respond to this shift in demand and consumption to be able to capture and serve the senior market. Meanwhile, workforce development organizations and the healthcare industry are considering how to train more healthcare workers (e.g., nurses) to meet the needs of the older population.

Trend 9: Increased automation and rapid technological advancements

With the rise of automation, artificial intelligence, and the speed of technological advancements, millions of low- and middle-skill jobs could be at risk over the coming decades while the demand for high-skill, STEM jobs continues to increase.

Preparing workers for new roles—and sometimes entirely new categories of jobs—will likely require a range of new skills, requiring training organizations to more dynamically adapt. The importance of on-the-job training may also grow as technologies change so quickly that learning them in the context of the work setting could be more valuable. Additionally, creative ways to encourage more STEM education and awareness will continue to be important.

The long-term future of work may also bring about some policy change. For instance, policymakers will need to consider what the appropriate minimum wage should be. On the one hand, it should be high enough so that it enables workers to provide for their families. On the other hand, a higher minimum wage could accelerate the need for automation in some low-skill occupations. Over the longer term, if automation eliminates a large number of low-and middle-skill jobs, policy makers may consider solutions like universal basic income.

Trend 10: Uncertainty around public workforce funding

The future of federal workforce funding is uncertain, as some budget proposals include significantly reduced funding for workforce development. If these budget cuts are executed, workforce development organizations may have to radically rethink their work and service models since resources would sharply decline. Alternatively, these organizations can look to other funding sources such as employers, philanthropy, state, and local governments to provide additional investment for existing and new bodies of work.

Trend 11: Decreasing connection between education and work

For many years, employers have defaulted to hiring workers with two- and four-year degrees. But as workplace become more specialized, some participants saw a growing disconnect between what students learn in school and what they need to be successful in a job. To address this observation, there may be an opportunity for schools to expose students to the world of work earlier so they can understand what skills are needed in the workplace. In addition, further collaboration between employers and training providers could also better to prepare students for the workplace.

"Instead of retiring at 65, older workers can pick up consulting or freelancing gigs in the field of their expertise and work from home with flexible hours."

"In the future, work may look very different. With automation replacing jobs, there may soon only be one worker per household."

"The future is here, and educators are trying to keep up."

"Workforce development reform and budget cuts could see organizations working more closely with employers out of need for funding, perhaps on a contractual basis."

"There is a lot of focus on the academics now, so graduates come out with less workforce readiness."



2.3) Envisioning a Better Future

With these regional trends in mind, convening participants then envisioned what the future could look like in two forms—the "expected future" that continues along the current trajectory and a "better future" in which we're able to take advantage of opportunities and address critical risks.

Expected Future

In an "expected future" that continues along today's trajectory, there are a number of positive trends that could continue to benefit the San Diego economy and workers. For example:

- The innovation economy would still continue to be a major driver for the region as there is a deep knowledge base in the region.
- Tourism would remain relatively strong, spurring job growth in areas like hospitality, food, and craft beer. Additionally,
 San Diegans that could afford the housing prices would continue to choose the area for retirement.
- Clean tech would likely remain strong as water industries related to desalinization and irrigation would remain important; solar technology would grow increasing viable in this sunny region.

However, the expected future would largely be defined by fragmentation and division. While the pockets of the innovation economy would remain strong, there would be challenges in growing it broadly without an increased focus on STEM education and training. Additionally, San Diego's economy would grow increasingly stratified with robust high-paying jobs and many minimum-wage jobs, with pressure on middle-skill jobs. This stratification could also exacerbate concerns related to affordability—especially housing—and could even lead to societal-level effects as some slowly "give up" on the American Dream.

Better Future

While there were a number of challenges in the expected future, group was hopeful that organizations and communities could collaborate to create a better future. Participants imagined a future where the local labor force could support economic growth and the benefits of economic growth would accrue to all members of the community. Resources across the region would be aligned and working together, with education providers and employers collaborating to support workforce needs and a public sector that is able to react quickly to shifting economic conditions. Funding would also be more aligned and focus on overall community outcomes, rather than overly-narrow metrics. Additionally, there would also be increased collaboration among city, county, and regional officials to create a better quality of life (e.g., affordable housing, public transportation, wellness), a shared workforce agenda, and business growth. By focusing on all parts of the economy, the San Diego region could become a global leader in innovation, creating high-, middle-, and lower-skill jobs across a variety of sectors.

At the same time, the region would also embrace and strive for inclusivity and diversity across all aspects, including socioeconomic status, race, gender, and age. Communities would recognize the importance of equal access to resources and opportunities, giving every student to right to a high-quality education—from pre-K to college to summer programs and internships. Employers would also value inclusivity and incorporate this value into their corporate culture and hiring decisions.

A better future also includes more connection across the mega-region, as the San Diego, Imperial Valley, and border regions of Mexico are intimately connected. Participants imagined ways to create new forums to discuss cross-national workforce, trade, and economic issues.

2.4) Early Ideas and Next Steps

Based on this expected and better future exercise, the group brainstormed early ideas and next steps that could help to bridge the gap from the expected future to the aspired better future. While there are many ways to group these areas of opportunities, they largely aligned with the four broad areas of opportunity:

- Opportunity for increased collaboration within San Diego and across the mega-region
- Opportunity to leverage existing assets and infrastructure
- Opportunity to promote equity and inclusion in the region
- Opportunity to better align funding, metrics, and incentives



Key Areas of Opportunity

Opportunity for increased collaboration within San Diego and across the mega-region

- K-12 schools, workforce development organizations, and employers can work more closely to expose students to potential careers. The creation of a talent development center could help connect workforce development leaders to education as early as pre-K. Middle and high schools can further strengthen relationships with employers and workforce development organizations so they can introduce students of all different communities to all different types of work through field trips, career fairs, job shadowing, or technical education. In addition to college preparation, there could be more career readiness and support in schools with the help of workforce development organizations. For instance, counselors could play a key role in sharing knowledge about the labor market and be trained to hold honest discussions with students about potential careers and skills needed.
- Workforce development organizations and colleges can engage clusters of employers to identify skills and competencies they value and would acknowledge.
 Employers can also be more involved in giving feedback on curriculum, co-developing learn-and-earn training programs, and hiring students for internship or apprenticeship opportunities.
- Given the interconnectivity of the workforces and economies of San Diego, the Imperial Valley, and Mexico's Tijuana region, increased communication and alignment among their governments and organizations could be helpful. Some even suggested creating a physical "Western White House" where the two sides could discuss trade and other issues.

- Local officials can continue to foster relations and keep in touch with organizations and neighborhoods through monthly meetings and town halls.
- Smaller agencies can sometime be left out of important conversations, even though they're the ones in the trenches doing the work to connect individuals and pathways. Larger organizations can work with these smaller agencies to be part of conversation and partner where appropriate.
- Nonprofits can continue to convene regularly to better understand each other's work. With stronger connections made, they may be able to better align resources, build alliances, make referrals, and apply for joint funding.
- Organizations operate in a wide range of networks that include other service providers, employers, and government agencies. By better connecting and mapping these networks, organizations can better understand the landscape of potential partners.
- One strong collaborative effort already underway is
 One San Diego Skills for Success, which is a
 regional cross-sector group of 15 school districts, five
 community colleges, nonprofits and hundreds of
 industry partners with the goal of preparing all young
 adults for college and career success in advanced
 industries. Many participants highlighted this effort and
 noted the opportunity to grow and build on it.

Opportunity to leverage existing assets and infrastructure

- There is an opportunity to leverage existing community assets to create hubs for workforce development. Many neighborhoods already have vibrant gathering places that provide various services for the community. Instead of building new workforce development centers or asking community members to commute long distances for trainings, neighborhoods could leverage existing institutions like libraries, recreation centers. or malls to deliver some trainings.
- In San Diego, anchor institutions like universities, hospitals, and museums play a key role in weaving together the civic fabric and also employing large number of workers. There could be an opportunity to work more with these anchor institutions to strengthen their own workforces and serve as regional leaders on inclusion and equity.
- Given the significant military presence in San Diego, a number of programs exist that provide support to military families. Organizations could involve, leverage, and build on these military family programs to better serve a relatively large segment of the community.
- Beyond military programs, there is also a range of programs to build from—although more so in San Diego compared to the Imperial Valley. Where possible, it may be valuable to **build from these efforts** rather than designing short-lived, "flash in the pan" ideas.



Opportunity to promote equity and inclusion in the region

- Organizations can help employers understand the business case for equity and inclusion—specifically that there is large, untapped potential both as a talent pool and a potential customer base.
- With a strong business case, workforce and economic organizations can start conversations with CEOs about inclusive strategies. Over time, there is an opportunity to help businesses make inclusion a part of their corporate culture, from hiring decisions to marketing efforts.
- Nonprofit organizations and businesses can work together to design creative ways to take steps toward inclusion. One idea in particular was for companies to "adopt" a school from an underserved region to help those students learn more about a company's work.
- Governments and companies can incorporate these inclusive values into their purchasing strategies by buying from entrepreneurs or companies from underserved communities.
- One existing effort to build from is inclusive learning lab with the Brookings Institution that brings different organizations together to understand specific opportunities and barriers to economic inclusion that impact San Diegans.

Opportunity to better align funding, metrics, and incentives

- Organizations have a wide range of stakeholders, missions, and capabilities and sometimes struggle when they accept funding that doesn't align with their goals. By mapping the different funding streams and understanding what is available, organizations could potentially better target funding that is more aligned with their work.
- Beyond mapping existing funding sources, there is also a need to advocate for more stable, multi-year funding from a range of sources that better matches the goals and timelines of the work on the ground.
- Building on existing collaborative efforts underway, organizations can work to better align resources and creatively partner together. One example would be for some organizations to align on a project or set of outcomes and then jointly apply for funding, create a shared pool, and divvy up the work that best aligns with organizations' strengths.



3) Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the following people for the contributions before and during the convening that helped us all further our understanding of the connection between economic and workforce development in California:

Organization	Name	Title
City of San Diego	David Graham	Deputy COO
County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency	Nick Macchione	Director
Grossmont-Cuyamaca Community College District	John Valencia	Vice Chancellor, Workforce and Organizational Development
Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation	Tim Kelley	President and CEO
Jacobs Center	Reginald Jones	President and CEO
Jacobs Center	Sandra Ainslie	Senior Director, Programs and Placemaking
San Diego Community College District	Stephanie Bulger	Vice Chancellor
San Diego East County Economic Development Council	Jo Marie Diamond	President and CEO
San Diego Foundation	Kathlyn Mead	President and CEO
San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation	Mark Cafferty	President and CEO
San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation	Ashley Swartout	Manager, Economic Development
San Diego State University College of Extended Studies	Joe Shapiro	Dean
San Diego Workforce Partnership	Peter Callstrom	President and CEO
San Diego Workforce Partnership	Andy Hall	Chief Operating Officer
San Diego/Imperial County Community College Association	Sunny Cooke	President
South County Economic Development Council	Cindy Gompers-Graves	President and CEO
University of California, San Diego	Mary Walshok	Associate Vice Chancellor of Public Programs and Dean of Extended Studies
United Way of San Diego County	Laurie Coskey	President and CEO
United Way of San Diego County	Tia Anzellotti	Director of Partnerships



¹ Lyn E. Haralson. "What is Workforce Development?" (Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis: 2010). https://www.stlouisfed.org/Publications/Bridges/Spring-2010/What-is-Workforce-Development.

² "What is Economic Development?" (U.S. Economic Development Administration). https://www.eda.gov.

³ "Southern Border Regional Workforce Development Plan: San Diego and Imperial Counties PY 2017-2020" (San Diego Workforce Partnership, Imperial County Workforce Development Board, and SDICCCA: 2017), 27. http://doingwhatmatters.ccco.edu/portals/6/docs/sw/RegionalPlans/SDIC_SBRWFDPlanFINAL.pdf.

⁴ Lyn E. Haralson. "What is Workforce Development?" (Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis: 2010). https://www.stlouisfed.org/Publications/Bridges/Spring-2010/What-is-Workforce-Development.

⁵ Ibid.

⁶ "What is Economic Development?" (U.S. Economic Development Administration). https://www.eda.gov.

⁷ Christopher King, Alfred Norman. "Why Connecting Economic and Workforce Development Matters" (Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta: 2012). https://www.frbatlanta.org/podcasts/transcripts/economic-development/121214-why-connecting-economic-and-workforce-development-matters.aspx.

⁸ Lisa Hicks, Alexandra Olins, Heath Price. "Aligning Economic and Workforce Development Activities in Baltimore" (Jobs for the Future: 2000), 1. http://www.jff.org/sites/default/files/publications/BaltEDWFDalign.pdf.

⁹ Amy Liu. "Remaking economic development: The markets and civics of continuous growth and prosperity" (Brookings Institution: 2016). https://www.brookings.edu/research/remaking-economic-development-the-markets-and-civics-of-continuous-growth-and-prosperity.

¹⁰ "Current Initiatives" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation). http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/services/initiatives.

¹¹ "Talent: Where San Diego Stands" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2016). http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Talent_San_Diego_2016.pdf.

¹² "Southern Border Regional Workforce Development Plan: San Diego and Imperial Counties PY 2017-2020" (San Diego Workforce Partnership, Imperial County Workforce Development Board, and SDICCCA: 2017), 2-3. http://doingwhatmatters.ccco.edu/portals/6/docs/sw/RegionalPlans/SDIC_SBRWFDPlanFINAL.pdf.

^{13 &}quot;Our Economy" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation), http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/our-economy,

¹⁴ "San Diego's Defense Cluster" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2017), 1-2. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Defense SD Profile.pdf.

¹⁵ Ibid.

¹⁶ "Imperial Valley: Aerospace" (Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.ivedc.com/media/managed/2016industryonepager/Aerospace_Flyer_2016.pdf.

¹⁷ "Our Economy" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation). http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/our-economy.

¹⁸ "San Diego Regional Profile" (San Diego Regional Economic Development corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/San%20Diego%20Regional%20Profile%202016.pdf.

¹⁹ "San Diego Innovation Report" (CONNECT: 2015), 16. http://live-connect-site.pantheonsite.io/sites/default/files/Innovation_report_press_single_pages_8.5x11_11.1.16.pdf.

²⁰ "San Diego Innovation Report" (CONNECT: 2015), 11. http://live-connect-site.pantheonsite.io/sites/default/files/Innovation_report_press_single_pages_8.5x11_11.1.16.pdf.

²¹ "San Diego Regional Profile" (San Diego Regional Economic Development corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/San%20Diego%20Regional%20Profile%202016.pdf

²² "San Diego's Tourism Economy" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2017), 1. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Tourism.pdf.

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ Ibid.

²⁵ "Our Economy" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation). http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/our-economy.

²⁶ "San Diego's Tourism Economy" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2017), 2. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Tourism.pdf.

²⁷ "Imperial County, CA" (DataUSA). https://datausa.io/profile/geo/imperial-county-ca.

^{28 &}quot;Priority Sectors: Workforce Initiatives in San Diego County" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and UCSD Extension: 2015), 3.
https://extension.ucsd.edu/UCSDExtension/media/UCSDExtensionsMedia/community-and-research/center-for-research/SDWP-Priority-Sectors.pdf.

²⁹ "Priority Sectors: Workforce Initiatives in San Diego County" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and UCSD Extension: 2015), 3-4. https://extension.ucsd.edu/UCSDExtension/media/UCSDExtensionsMedia/community-and-research/center-for-research/SDWP-Priority-Sectors.pdf.



- ³⁰ "Priority Sectors: Workforce Initiatives in San Diego County" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and UCSD Extension: 2015), 10. https://extension.ucsd.edu/UCSDExtension/media/UCSDExtensionsMedia/community-and-research/center-for-research/SDWP-Priority-Sectors.pdf.
- 31 Ibid.
- ³² "Imperial Valley: Energy" (Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.ivedc.com/media/managed/2016industryonepager/Energy Flyer 2016.pdf.
- ³³ "Priority Sectors: Workforce Initiatives in San Diego County" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and UCSD Extension: 2015), 17. https://extension.ucsd.edu/UCSDExtension/media/UCSDExtensionsMedia/community-and-research/center-for-research/SDWP-Priority-Sectors.pdf.
- ³⁴ "San Diego County, CA" (DataUSA). https://datausa.io/profile/geo/san-diego-county-ca.
- ³⁵ "Priority Sectors: Workforce Initiatives in San Diego County" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and UCSD Extension: 2015), 17. https://extension.ucsd.edu/UCSDExtension/media/UCSDExtensionsMedia/community-and-research/center-for-research/SDWP-Priority-Sectors.pdf.
- ³⁶ Lisa Halverstadt. "San Diego Businesses, By the Numbers" (Voice of San Diego: 2014). http://www.voiceofsandiego.org/business/sandiego-businesses-by-the-numbers.
- ³⁷ "Information and Communication Technologies" (San Diego Workforce Partnership), 1. http://workforce.org/sites/default/files/13786 sdwp_ict_2-sided_one-pager_print.pdf.
- ³⁸ "Life Sciences" (San Diego Workforce Partnership), 1. http://workforce.org/sites/default/files/13786 sdwp_lifesciences 2-sided_one-pager_print.pdf.
- ³⁹ "Priority Sectors: Workforce Initiatives in San Diego County" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and UCSD Extension: 2015), 28. https://extension.ucsd.edu/UCSDExtension/media/UCSDExtensionsMedia/community-and-research/center-for-research/SDWP-Priority-Sectors.pdf.
- ⁴⁰ "Imperial Valley: Bio-Fuels" (Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.ivedc.com/media/managed/2016industryonepager/BioFuels_Flyer_2016.pdf.
- ⁴¹ "San Diego's unemployment rate doesn't tell the whole story" (San Diego Workforce Partnership: 2015). https://workforce.org/news/san-diegos-unemployment-rate-doesnt-tell-whole-story.
- ⁴² "San Diego unemployment increased to 4.3% in June; 6,400 jobs gained" (San Diego Workforce Partnership: 2017). http://workforce.org/news/san-diego-unemployment-increased-43-june-6400-jobs-gained.
- ⁴³ "San Diego selected for Brookings' inclusive learning lab" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2017). http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/blog/regional-support-q2-17/san-diego-selected-brookings%E2%80%99-inclusive-learning-lab.
- ⁴⁴ "El Centro Metropolitan Statistical Area (Imperial County)" (Labor Market Information Division, CA Employment Development Department: 2017), 1. http://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/file/lfmonth/ecen\$pds.pdf.
- ⁴⁵ Tiffany Hsu. "El Centro's 21.1% unemployment rate second highest in U.S." (Los Angeles Times: 2014). http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-el-centro-unemployment-california-20140701-story.html.
- ⁴⁶ "Talent: Where San Diego Stands" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 5. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Talent_San_Diego_2016.pdf.
- ⁴⁷ Camille L. Ryan and Kurt Bauman. "Educational Attainment in the United States: 2015" (United States Census Bureau: 2016), 1. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/demo/p20-578.pdf.
- ⁴⁸ "Quick Facts: Imperial County, California" (United States Census Bureau). https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/imperialcountycalifornia/AGE765210.
- ⁴⁹ "Talent: Where San Diego Stands" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 3. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Talent_San_Diego_2016.pdf.
- 50 Ibid
- ⁵¹ Don Bauder. "San Diego's income and poverty numbers better than most" (San Diego Reader: 2015). https://www.sandiegoreader.com/news/2015/oct/28/citylights-san-diego-income-poverty-numbers.
- ⁵² "Gini Index for California" (Civic Dashboards by OpenGov: 2016). http://www.civicdashboards.com/state/california-04000US06/gini_index.
- ⁵³ "Income, Poverty and Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2014" (United States Census Bureau: 2015). https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2015/cb15-157.html.
- ⁵⁴ "Imperial County, CA" (DataUSA). https://datausa.io/profile/geo/imperial-county-ca.
- ⁵⁵ Anthony Caruso. "Statistics of U.S. Businesses Employment and Payroll Summary 2012" (United States Census Bureau: 2015), 7-9. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2015/econ/g12-susb.pdf.
- ⁵⁶ "California Small Business Profile" (U.S. Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, 2016), 1. https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/California.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ "San Diego-Carlsbad MSA: Number of Businesses, Number of Employees, and Third Quarter Payroll by Size Category (Private Industry)" (CA Employment Development Department: 2015). http://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/file/indsize/sand\$sf2015.xlsx



- ⁵⁸ "Workforce Needs of Small Businesses in San Diego" (San Diego Workforce Partnership, San Diego and Imperial Counties Community Colleges Association, and Regional Center of Excellence for Labor Market Research: 2015), 3. https://workforce.org/sites/default/files/file_attach/workforce_needs_of_small_businesses_2015.pdf.
- ⁵⁹ Tom Post. "The Best Places To Launch A Startup In 2014" (Forbes: 2014). https://www.forbes.com/sites/tompost/2014/03/13/the-best-places-to-launch-a-startup-in-2014/#6c8cc2697e0d.
- ⁶⁰ Anthony Caruso. "Statistics of U.S. Businesses Employment and Payroll Summary 2012" (United States Census Bureau: 2015), 7-9. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2015/econ/g12-susb.pdf.
- 61 "Middle-Skill Jobs: Gaps and Opportunities" (San Diego Workforce Partnership and San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2015), 4. http://workforce.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/reports/industry/middle-skill_jobs_gaps_and_opportunities_2015.pdf.
- ⁶² "Imperial Valley: Aerospace" (Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.ivedc.com/media/managed/2016industryonepager/Aerospace Flyer 2016.pdf.
- ⁶³ Bradley J. Fikes. "Biotech companies riding out latest period of turbulence, new report finds" (San Diego Union-Tribune: 2017). www.sandiegouniontribune.com/.../biotech/sd-me-ey-biotech-20170616-story.html.
- ⁶⁴ "Imperial Valley: Bio-Fuels" (Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.ivedc.com/media/managed/2016industryonepager/BioFuels Flyer 2016.pdf.
- ⁶⁵ "Imperial Valley: Data Centers" (Imperial Valley Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 1. http://www.ivedc.com/media/managed/2016industryonepager/Data_Centers_2016_updated.pdf.
- ⁶⁶ Ivan Penn. "Australian firm plans nation's largest geothermal plant in Imperial Valley" (Los Angeles Times: 2017). http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-geothermal-salton-sea-20170114-story.html.
- 67 "Home." Tijuana EDC. https://tijuanaedc.org.
- ⁶⁸ "How the Austin region is achieving inclusive economic growth (for now)" (Austin Chamber: 2017). https://www.austinchamber.com/blog/how-austin-is-achieving-inclusive-economic-growth.
- ⁶⁹ "Talent: Where San Diego Stands" (San Diego Regional Economic Development Corporation: 2016), 5. http://www.sandiegobusiness.org/sites/default/files/Talent_San_Diego_2016.pdf.
- ⁷⁰ "Flip the Script: Understanding the Story of San Diego's Opportunity Youth" (San Diego Workforce Partnership: 2017), 2. http://workforce.org/sites/default/files/flip-the-script_summary_2017-04-13.pdf.
- ⁷¹ "Workforce Needs of Small Businesses in San Diego" (San Diego Workforce Partnership, San Diego and Imperial Counties Community Colleges Association, and Regional Center of Excellence for Labor Market Research: 2015), 13. https://workforce.org/sites/default/files/file_attach/workforce_needs_of_small_businesses_2015.pdf.
- ⁷² Raj Chetty, Nathaniel Hendren, Patrick Kline, Emmanuel Saez. "Where is the Land of Opportunity? The Geography of Intergenerational Mobility in the United States" (The National Bureau of Economic Research: 2014), 71. http://www.rajchetty.com/chettyfiles/mobility_geo.pdf.